IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THE LAS VEGAS REVIEW JOURNAL,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Feb 21 2018 02:15 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

vs.

CITY OF HENDERSON,

CASE NO.: 73287

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Mark Bailus, District Judge District Court Case No. A-16-747289-W

Margaret A. McLetchie, Nevada Bar No. 10931 Alina M. Shell, Nevada Bar No. 11711 MCLETCHIE SHELL LLC 701 East Bridger Ave., Suite 520 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 *Counsel for The Las Vegas Review-Journal*

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the denial of a Petition for Writ of Mandamus filed by the Las Vegas Review-Journal ("LVRJ") pursuant to the Nevada Public Records Act ("NPRA"), Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.001 et seq. seeking access to certain documents created and possessed by the City of Henderson ("Henderson") pertaining to the public relations/communications firm Trosper Communications and its principal, Elizabeth Trosper and seeking declaratory relief regarding Henderson's policy of charging a fee for privilege review of public records. The district court's order denying the LVRJ's Petition for Writ of Mandamus, entered on May 15, 2017, was a final judgment under NRAP 3A(b)(1) because it disposed of all claims in the case. (III JA445-50.)¹ The LVRJ filed a timely notice of appeal on June 9, 2017. (III JA451-52); see also Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure ("NRAP") (a)(1) (mandating that a notice of appeal must be filed no later than 30 days after service of the notice of entry of the judgment or order being appealed).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(14) because it raises as a principal issue a question of statewide public

¹ For the Court's ease of reference, citations to the Joint Appendix ("JA") cite to both volume and page number(s). Hence, "III JA445-50" refers to volume 3 of the Joint Appendix at pages 445 through 450.

importance regarding the district court's interpretation of the Nevada Public Records Act, Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.001 *et seq.* This case is also presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(13) because it raises a question of first impression regarding the interpretation of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.055. Additionally, this matter is not one that would be presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Nevada Public Records Act ("NPRA") prohibits a governmental entity from charging a fee for conducting a search for public records and performing a privilege review of records that are responsive to a public records request.

2. Whether Henderson Municipal Code 2.47.085 and Henderson's Public Records Policy violate the Nevada Public Records Act by permitting Henderson to charge a fee for the extraordinary use of personnel or technological resources in responding to public records requests that exceeds the 50 cents per page limit set by Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.055.

3. Whether a request for copies under the NPRA can be deemed moot where the parties agree to inspection of the records as a temporary solution while litigation regarding access to the copies is ongoing.

4. Whether the district court erred in denying the LVRJ's petition requesting copies of records pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.011 where Henderson only agreed to provide copies upon request from the district court at hearing on the matter.

5. Whether Henderson's privilege log of withheld documents failed to provide sufficient legal or factual bases for withholding or redacting other records, and whether the district court erred in not requiring that documents listed on the log be produced.

///

///

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from a decision by the Eighth Judicial District Court, Mark Bailus presiding (the "district court"),² denying a petition for writ of mandamus filed by the LVRJ pursuant to the NPRA (specifically, Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.011(1)) to obtain certain public records from Henderson pertaining to Trosper Communications, and denying the LVRJ's request for declaratory relief regarding Henderson's policy of charging requesters a per-hour fee for its attorneys to conduct a privilege review of public records.

B. Course of the Proceedings

As more fully described in the Statement of Facts below, this action arose pursuant to the NPRA. No discovery was undertaken; rather, this matter was decided on the Petition and briefs (and exhibits thereto) and oral argument. Upon the filing of the Notice of Entry of Order on May 15, 2017 (III JA445-450), the LVRJ filed a timely notice of appeal on June 9, 2017. (III JA451-452.)

C. Disposition Below

On October 4, 2016, the LVRJ submitted a public records request to the City of Henderson pursuant to the NPRA seeking certain documents pertaining to the

² Although Judge Bailus is now the presiding judge in this matter, the order at issue was entered by the prior presiding judge, the Honorable J. Charles Thompson. (*See, e.g.*, III JA420; *see also* JAIII JA450.)

public relations/communications firm Trosper Communications and its principal, Elizabeth Trosper. (I JA011-014.) Trosper Communications had a contract with Henderson and assisted with the campaigns of elected officials. (*Id.*)

In response to the LVRJ's request, on October 11, 2016, Henderson indicated it required additional time to search for responsive documents but that, due to the time required to review the documents for privilege and confidentiality, it intended to charge the LVRJ \$5,787.89 for "extraordinary use" of Henderson personnel, citing Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.055, Henderson Municipal Code 2.47.085 ("Code"), and Henderson's public records policy ("Policy"). (I JA016; see also I JA018-022 (the Policy).) Henderson demanded a deposit of \$2,893.94 just to continue its search for documents. (I JA016.) Henderson charges for any time in excess of thirty (30) minutes spent by City staff or any City contractor "to locate the requested public records, to review the records in order to determine whether any requested records are exempt from disclosure, to segregate exempt records, to supervise the requester's inspection of original documents, to copy records, to certify records as true copies, and to send records by special or overnight methods such as express mail or overnight delivery." (I JA020.)

In short, Henderson charges requesters for its attorneys to conduct a privilege review and for its attorneys to determine how and whether to withhold records. However, the NPRA only permits fees of actual reproduction costs for copies (*see*

Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.052; see also Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.005(1)). If a request for a copy of a public record would require a governmental entity to "make extraordinary use of its personnel or technological resources," it may charge reasonable costs of up to fifty cents a page for "extraordinary use" (Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.055(1)). No assessed cost may compensate an agency for costs it would expend regardless of the requests. See Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.005(1) ("Actual cost" means the direct cost related to the reproduction of a public record. The term does not include a cost that a governmental entity incurs regardless of whether or not a person requests a copy of a particular public record); see also Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.055(1) (only allowing for an additional "extraordinary use" fee if "a request for a copy of a public record would require a governmental entity to make extraordinary use of its personnel or technological resources.") Henderson not only improperly charges just for searching for records and its attorneys' time, it also exceeds the per page cap that is allowed if (and only if) a request requires "extraordinary use." Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.055(1). Here, the request did not involve "extraordinary use."

On November 29, 2016, the LVRJ filed a petition for writ of mandamus pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.011. (I JA001-022.) The LVRJ also sought declaratory and injunctive relief to address the rights of the parties and the applicability of Henderson's Code and Policy. As an interim solution to allow access while the matter was being litigated, the parties agreed that Henderson would allow

a reporter to inspect the records pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.011 at no fee and that the matter would continue to be litigated. (See III JA348-351 at JA350-JA351 (letter from Josh Reid offering to provide access to the records while "the courts provide clarity to the meaning and application of NRS 239.055") and III JA346 (LVRJ counsel response noting "I am ... happy to develop a process for getting the RJ records as quickly as possible while we litigate the issues pertaining to the permissible NPRA fees, and appreciate that offer...").) However, Henderson continued to refuse to provide copies pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.055. Subsequently, Henderson produced a log of withheld records; the LVRJ then amended its petition to address the privilege log, contending Henderson failed to provide sufficient bases for withholding and redacting. (I JA026-167.) At the hearing on the LVRJ's amended petition, Henderson finally agreed to provide copies of some records in electronic form. (III JA434.) On May 15, 2017, the district court entered an order denying the petition. (III JA445-450.) This appeal follows.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The LVRJ's Public Records Request

On October 4, 2016, the LVRJ sent Henderson a request pursuant to the NPRA seeking certain documents dated from January 1, 2016 through the date of the request pertaining to Trosper Communications and its principal, Elizabeth Trosper. (I JA011-014.) Trosper Communications is a communications firm that had

a contract with the City of Henderson and has assisted with the campaigns of elected officials in Henderson. The request was directed to Henderson's Chief Information Officer and the Director of Intergovernmental Relations. (I JA013 (listing requested records).)

B. Henderson's Response and Demand for Excessive Fees for "Extraordinary Use"

On October 11, 2016, Henderson provided a letter in response to the LVRJ's records request. (I JA016.) Henderson indicated that it was "in [the] process of searching for and gathering responsive e-mails and other documents" but that "[d]ue to the high number of potentially responsive documents that meet your search criteria (we have approximately 5,566 emails alone) and the time required to review them for privilege and confidentiality, we estimate that your request will be completed in three weeks from the date we commence our review." *Id*.

In addition to its nebulous statement that it required additional time, and failure to provide a date certain,³ Henderson demanded payment of almost \$6,000.00

³ Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.0107, which requires a governmental entity to provide records or otherwise provide meaningful response to a NPRA request within 5 days of a request, dictates that a governmental entity intending to delay production past the 5 day response deadline provide a date certain by which it will provide records. *See* Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.0107(1)(c)("Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (d), if the governmental entity is unable to make the public book or record available by the end of the fifth business day after the date on which the person who has legal custody or control of the public book or record received the request, provide to the public book or record will be available for the person to inspect or copy or after

to continue its review. It explained the basis of its demand as follows:

The documents you have requested will require extraordinary research and use of City personnel. Accordingly, pursuant to NRS 239.052, NRS 239.055, and Henderson Municipal Code 2.47.085, *we estimate that the total fee to complete your request will be* \$5,787.89. This is calculated by averaging the actual *hourly rate of the two Assistant City Attorneys* who will be undertaking the review of potentially responsive documents (\$77.99) and multiplying that rate by the total number of hours it is estimated it will take to *review the emails and other documents* (approximately 5,566 emails divided by 75 emails per hour equals 74.21 hours).

(I JA016) (emphases added). In other words, Henderson was demanding the LVRJ

pay Henderson's city attorneys to review public records and determine whether any

records would even be released. Henderson's response also stated that pursuant to

its Public Records Policy, it would not continue searching for responsive documents

and reviewing them for privilege unless the LVRJ paid a "deposit" of \$2,893.94:

Under the City's Public Records Policy, a fifty percent deposit of fees is required before we can start our review. Therefore, please submit a check payable to the City of Henderson in the amount of \$2,893.94. Once the City receives the deposit, we will begin processing your request.

Id. A copy of the Policy can be found at I JA018-022. The pertinent fees provision is located at I JA020. Henderson also informed the LVRJ that it would not release any records until the total final fee was paid, stating: "[w]hen your request is

which a copy of the public book or record will be available to the person. If the public book or record or the copy of the public book or record is not available to the person by that date and time, the person may inquire regarding the status of the request.").

completed, we will notify you and, once the remained [sic] of the fee is received, the records and any privilege log will be released to you." *Id*.

C. The LVRJ Files Suit

On November 26, 2016, after informal efforts to resolve this dispute failed, the LVRJ filed a petition for writ of mandamus pursuant to the NPRA, Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.011(1). (I JA001-022.) On December 20, 2016, Henderson provided the LVRJ with an initial list of documents it was redacting or withholding, with cursory (but insufficient) notes regarding the bases for withdrawal such as unexplained citations to *Donrey*. (I JA057-059.) Henderson also agreed to make the requested documents available for inspection free of charge. (*See, e.g.*, II JA237-JA240 (correspondence between counsel discussing agreement to allow the LVRJ to conduct an in-person inspection to facilitate access while the litigation resolved the rights of the parties with regard to access to copies and the fees demanded).) That inspection took place on over the course of several days. (*See* III JA364; JA370 (emails discussing inspection).)

On January 9, 2017, in response to requests from the LVRJ, Henderson provided a privilege log describing the documents being withheld or redacted and the putative bases for such withholding or redacting. (I JA061-066; I JA187, ¶ 11.) The log indicated who sent and received the emails responsive to the NPRA request, but in instances where the sender or recipient was a city attorney or legal staff, the

log did not identify the attorney or staff person. Id.

On January 10, 2017, in response to concerns expressed by LVRJ counsel regarding the adequacy of the log (I JA187, \P 13), Henderson provided the LVRJ with a revised privilege log (I JA068-073), as well as a number of redacted documents corresponding to the log. (I JA075-167.) In the revised log, Henderson included a description of the senders and recipients of withheld or redacted documents.

D. The LVRJ Files an Amended Petition

On February 8, 2017, pursuant to stipulation between the parties (I JA025-028), the LVRJ filed an amended petition to address inadequacies with Henderson's final privilege log (I JA026-167), as well as a memorandum in support of the Amended Petition. (I JA168-189.) In the Amended Petition and Memorandum, the LVRJ asserted that Henderson's attempt to charge it for a privilege review of the requested documents violated the NPRA because the Act does not permit a governmental entity to charge a requestor for a privilege review. (I JA035-036; I JA172-174.) The LVRJ additionally asserted that Henderson Code and Policy conflicted with the NPRA's limitations in Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.055(1) on the fees a governmental entity can charge for extraordinary use of personnel. (I JA036; I JA173-174.)

///

The LVRJ requested (1) that the Court issue a writ of mandamus requiring Henderson to immediately make available all records the LVRJ had previously requested but had been withheld and/or redacted; (2) injunctive relief prohibiting Henderson from applying the provisions of its Code and its Policy to demand fees in excess of those permitted by the NPRA; (3) declaratory relief stating that Henderson Municipal Code § 2.47.085 and the City of Henderson's Public Records Policy ("Henderson Code and Policy") are invalid to the extent they provide for fees in excess of those permitted by the NPRA; and (4) declaratory relief limiting Henderson to charging fees for extraordinary use of personnel to fifty cents per page, as well as limiting Henderson from demanding fees for attorney review. (I JA040-041.) Henderson filed a response to the Amended Petition and Memorandum on March 8, 2017. (II JA190-295.) The LVRJ filed a reply on March 23, 2017. (III JA296-418.)

The district court conducted a hearing on the LVRJ's Amended Petition on March 30, 2017. (III JA420-444.) At that hearing, at the request from counsel for the LVRJ and the court, counsel for Henderson finally agreed to provide the LVRJ a USB drive with copies of the requested documents. (III JA427:8-11.) At the conclusion of the hearing, the district court directed Henderson to provide the LVRJ with a "USB drive with [the requested documents] on it." (III JA443, ll. 15-20.)

During the hearing, the LVRJ requested that the district court rule on the propriety Henderson's Public Records Policy, noting that the policy conflicted with the NPRA and could present an impediment to future public records requests. (III JA427-428.) The Court declined to do so, stating simply "let's worry about the future cases when we get there. That's maybe for a younger Judge." (III JA428, ll. 20-21.)

On May 15, 2017, the Court entered an order denying the LVRJ's request for a writ of mandamus, injunctive relief, and declaratory relief. (III JA445-450.) In that order, the Court noted that at the hearing, Henderson finally agreed to provide electronic copies of the documents that were responsive to the LVRJ's public records request. (III JA449, \P 2.) With respect to the LVRJ's claims regarding the propriety of Henderson Code and Policy, the district court found those claims were mooted by Henderson's agreement to provide electronic copies at no charge. (*Id.* at \P 3.) Further, the district court denied the LVRJ's claims regarding the adequacy of Henderson's final privilege log, finding that it was both timely and sufficient. (*Id.* at \P 4.)

E. Henderson's Public Records Policy and Municipal Code 2.47.085

One of the central issues in this appeal is the propriety of Henderson's Code and Policy, both of which allow Henderson to charge public records requesters a fee for conducting a privilege review. Henderson Municipal Code 2.47.085(C) currently provides that: [I]f the public records request will require more than ten hours of city personnel time to search for, compile, segregate, redact, remove, scan and/or reproduce records responsive to the records request, which hourly rate charged for the extraordinary use of personnel time shall not exceed thirty-five dollars per hour. The total fee under this provision shall not exceed fifty cents per page contained in the records request.

Likewise, under Henderson's Public Records Policy, Henderson charges requesters

for time spent in excess of thirty minutes for:

review[ing] the records in order to determine whether any requested records are exempt from disclosure, to segregate exempt records, to supervise the requester's inspection of original documents, to copy records, to certify records as true copies, and to send records by special or overnight methods such as express mail or overnight delivery.

(I JA020, § V(A).) As detailed below, the application of the Code and Policy lead

to the absurd result that members of the public requesting public records pay

Henderson to keep their own records from them.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Typically, a district court's decision to grant or deny a writ petition is reviewed by this Court under an abuse of discretion standard. *DR Partners v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs of Clark Cty.*, 116 Nev. 616, 621, 6 P.3d 465, 468 (2000) (citing *County of Clark v. Doumani*, 114 Nev. 46, 53, 952 P.2d 13, 17 (1998)). However, when, as here, the petition entails questions of law such as application of the NPRA, this Court reviews the district court's decision de novo. *Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Gibbons*, 127 Nev. 873, 877, 266 P.3d 623, 626 (2011) (citing *Reno Newspapers v.* *Haley*, 126 Nev. 211, 213, 234 P.3d 922, 924 (2010)). "[Q]uestions of statutory construction, including the meaning and scope of a statute, are questions of law, which this court reviews de novo." *City of Reno v. Reno Gazette–Journal*, 119 Nev. 55, 58, 63 P.3d 1147, 1148 (2003) (citation omitted).

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