#### Case No. 73287

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Apr 24 2018 08:50 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### LAS VEGAS REVIEW-JOURNAL.

Appellant,

VS.

#### CITY OF HENDERSON.

Respondent.

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada Honorable Judge Mark Bailus, Case No. A-16-747289-W

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JOSH M. REID
CITY ATTORNEY
Nevada Bar No. 7497
BRIAN R. REEVE
ASSISTANT CITY ATTORNEY
Nevada Bar No. 10197
CITY OF HENDERSON
240 Water Street, MSC 144
Henderson, NV 89015

DENNIS L. KENNEDY
Nevada Bar No. 1462
SARAH E. HARMON
Nevada Bar No. 8106
BAILEY \* KENNEDY
8984 Spanish Ridge Avenue

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

## VII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

LVRJ's Amended Petition asked the District Court for three types of relief: (1) declaratory relief invalidating the City's Code and Policy for purportedly conflicting with the NPRA; (2) injunctive relief prohibiting the City from applying its Code and Policy when responding to public records requests; and (3) a writ of mandamus requiring the City to immediately make available all records the City redacted or withheld, as identified on its Withholding Log. The District Court

denied LVRJ's Amended Petition in its entirety. This Court should affirm that decision for three reasons.

<u>First</u>, LVRJ's claims for declaratory and injunctive relief are moot and improper in an action filed under the NPRA. The District Court correctly found that LVRJ's claims for declaratory and injunctive relief are moot because LVRJ both inspected and received copies of the requested documents free of charge. Thus, there was (and still is) no live controversy regarding the payment of fees for the requested records. Nor does the capable-of-repetition-yet-evading-review exception apply. The facts and circumstances of this case are not capable of repetition as the City amended its Code and Policy in 2017. The facts and circumstances of this case likewise will not evade review as the NPRA and the Declaratory Judgments Act provide the means to fully adjudicate public records disputes and the interpretation of the NPRA.

Even if the Court were to find that LVRJ's declaratory and injunctive relief claims are justiciable, the Court should still affirm the District Court's denial of those claims because declaratory and injunctive relief are unavailable in an action brought under NRS 239.011. Under NRS 239.011, a petitioner's exclusive remedy is to apply for an order permitting the inspection of requested records or compelling the production of copies of requested records. That is it. Because NRS 239.011 expressly provides for a certain remedy, the Court should "decline to engraft any additional remedies therein." *Stockmeier v. Nev. Dep't of Corrs.* 

Psychological Review Panel, 124 Nev. 313, 317, 183 P.3d 133, 136 (2008).

Second, to the extent this Court entertains LVRJ's declaratory and injunctive relief claims, the Court should nonetheless affirm the District Court's denial of those claims because the manner in which the City assessed fees to complete LVRJ's public records request in its Initial Response were in accordance with the fee-charging provisions in the NPRA. Specifically, the City's assessment of the fee for the extraordinary use of its personnel under NRS 239.055 complied with the plain language of the statute and is consistent with the spirit and intent of the NPRA.

<u>Third</u>, the District Court properly denied LVRJ's petition for a writ of mandamus seeking to compel the production of the records the City withheld or redacted for confidentiality reasons because the City produced a Withholding Log in a timely manner and the Withholding Log complied with the NPRA and *Reno Newspapers*, *Inc. v. Gibbons*, 127 Nev. 873, 266 P.3d 623 (2011).

### VIII. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Ordinarily, a district court denial of a writ petition is reviewed for an abuse of discretion." *Reno Newspapers v. Sheriff*, 126 Nev. 211, 214, 234 P.3d 922, 924 (2010). "However, when the writ petition includes questions of statutory construction, this court will review the district court's decision de novo." *Id.* 

In this case, the District Court determined that the questions of law raised in LVRJ's Amended Petition were moot and did not consider or decide them. (III

JA449.) The only issue the District Court decided was the adequacy of the Withholding Log. (III JA449.) Thus, the denial of LVRJ's Amended Petition should be reviewed for an abuse of discretion.

"An abuse of discretion occurs when no reasonable judge could reach a similar conclusion under the same circumstances." *Leavitt v. Siems*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 54, 330 P.3d 1, 5 (2014).

### IX. ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the District Court's Order denying LVRJ's Amended Petition for three reasons. First, the Amended Petition's claims for declaratory and injunctive relief, which attempt to invalidate and enjoin the City from following its Code and Policy, are moot and improper in an action brought under NRS 239.011. Second, even if LVRJ's claims for declaratory and injunctive relief were justiciable (they are not), the Code and Policy in effect at the time LVRJ filed suit in 2016 were consistent with the fee-charging sections of the NPRA. The fees the City originally assessed to fulfill the Request were entirely proper. Finally, the City's Withholding Log satisfies the requirements of NRS 239.0107 and Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Gibbons, 127 Nev. 873, 266 P.3d 623 (2011), and demonstrates that the City properly redacted and/or withheld the documents identified therein.

///

# A. The Amended Petition's Claims for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief Are Moot and Exceed the Scope of NRS 239.011.

This Court should uphold the District Court's denial of LVRJ's claims for declaratory and injunctive relief for at least two reasons: (1) the claims are moot; and (2) even if they are not moot, the claims are not authorized under NRS 239.011.

#### 1. LVRJ's Claims for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief Are Moot.

The District Court determined that LVRJ's claims for declaratory and injunctive relief seeking to invalidate and enjoin enforcement of the City's Code and Policy concerning the assessment of fees were moot because LVRJ both inspected and received copies of the requested documents free of charge. Because a controversy no longer existed, the District Court never made a determination as to whether the claims were authorized under NRS 239.011.

"[T]he duty of every judicial tribunal is to decide actual controversies by a judgment which can be carried into effect, and not to give opinions upon moot questions or abstract propositions, or to declare principles of law which cannot affect the matter in issue before it." *Nat'l Collegiate Athletic Ass'n v. Univ. of Nev., Reno*, 97 Nev. 56, 57, 624 P.2d 10, 10 (1981). "[A] controversy must be present through all stages of the proceeding, and even though a case may present a live controversy at its beginning, subsequent events may render the case moot." *Personhood Nev. v. Bristol*, 126 Nev. 599, 602, 245 P.3d 572, 574 (2010). (internal

citations omitted). This court "generally will not exercise [its] discretion to consider a moot case" and "has frequently refused to determine questions presented in purely moot cases." *Paley v. Second Judicial Dist. Ct.*, 129 Nev. 701, 704, 310 P.3d 590, 592 (2013); *Nat'l Collegiate Athletic Ass'n*, 97 Nev. at 58, 624 P.2d at 11.

The District Court properly found that whether the City could charge the fees set forth in its Initial Response was a moot issue because the City had already allowed LVRJ to inspect the records and was willing to provide electronic copies free of charge. (III JA449.) Accordingly, there was (and still is) no live controversy regarding the payment of fees for the requested records. Rather, LVRJ is asking the Court to give opinions on hypothetical questions and to declare principles of law that cannot affect the matters at issue in the Amended Petition.

LVRJ concedes this point. LVRJ does not argue that a live controversy exists with respect to a payment of fees in exchange for the requested records. Instead, LVRJ's Opening Brief focuses entirely on the exception to the mootness doctrine, the capable-of-repetition-yet-evading-review exception. (Opening Brief at 27-28.) As explained below, this exception is inapplicable.

A moot case may be justiciable "where an issue is capable of repetition, yet will evade review because of the nature of its timing." *In re Guardianship of L.S.* & *H.S.*, 120 Nev. 157, 161, 87 P.3d 521, 524 (2004). The capable-of-repetition-yet-evading-review exception applies "only in exceptional situations" where "[t]he

challenged action must be too short in its duration to be fully litigated prior to its natural expiration, and a reasonable expectation must exist that the same complaining party will suffer the harm again." *Id.* For the exception to apply, the moot issue must also involve "a matter of widespread importance[.]" *Personhood Nev.*, 126 Nev. at 602, 245 P.3d at 574. The usefulness of the exception is evidenced in situations where "in the absence of such a rule, an important question of law could never be decided because of the nature of its timing." *State v. Washoe Cnty. Pub. Def.*, 105 Nev. 299, 301, 775 P.2d 217, 218 (1989).

The circumstances at issue in this appeal are not capable of repetition, nor will they evade review. While the City maintains that the Code and Policy in effect in 2016 were consistent with the NPRA, in October 2017 the City amended HMC 2.47.085 and the Policy. Under the amended version of HMC 2.47.085, the fee for extraordinary use of personnel or technological resources authorized under NRS 239.055 may only be assessed if the public records request will require more than ten hours of city personnel time to complete. *See* HMC 2.47.085. Moreover, the current version of HMC 2.47.085 clarifies that the total fee for extraordinary use of personnel may not exceed \$0.50 per page. *Id.* These changes ensure that the circumstances at issue in this appeal are not capable of repetition.

Nevertheless, even if the manner in which the City charged "extraordinary use" fees in 2016 was capable of repetition under the City's revised Policy and Code, the issue will neither evade review because of the nature of its timing, nor is

it a matter of widespread importance. There is nothing unique about the timing of a public records request or response thereto that will result in an important question "evading review." To the contrary, the NPRA already provides a mechanism for public records disputes to be fully adjudicated on an expedited basis. *See* NRS 239.011. Furthermore, the Declaratory Judgments Act provides an alternative avenue to challenge the construction or validity of a statute or ordinance pertaining to public records.<sup>2</sup> *See* NRS 30.010 *et. seq.* Simply put, there are already adequate procedures in place that allow public records disputes and challenges to local ordinances to be fully litigated and reviewed by Nevada courts.

LVRJ relies on *Baltimore Sun Co. v. Goetz* as support for the proposition that this case falls under the mootness exception. 886 F.2d 60 (4th Cir. 1989). *Baltimore Sun*, however, is readily distinguishable. In *Baltimore Sun*, a magistrate judge sealed an affidavit supporting three search warrants and denied the plaintiff's motion to unseal the affidavit. *Id.* at 62. Thereafter, the plaintiff filed a petition for writ of mandamus to compel the unsealing of the affidavit, which the district court denied. *Id.* at 62-63. While the denial of the writ of mandamus was on appeal, indictments arising out of the criminal investigation were returned, which prompted the government to file a motion to unseal the warrant affidavit and the

as explained below

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As explained below, however, a party may not bootstrap a declaratory or injunctive relief claim challenging the validity of an ordinance to an action brought under NRS 239.011, and thus avail itself of the expedited procedures and attorney's fees provisions unique to NPRA actions that would not otherwise be available.

district court granted the motion. *Id*.at 63.

On appeal, the government argued that the case was moot because the affidavit had already been unsealed. *Id.* The Fourth Circuit found that even though the affidavit had already been unsealed, the case should not be dismissed as moot because it fell within the capable-of-repetition-yet-evading-review exception. *Id.* Crucial to the Fourth Circuit's decision was the fact that the time period between sealing a search warrant affidavit and indictment (in that case, eight months) "was usually too short in duration to be litigated fully." *Id.* Thus, the inherently short duration of orders sealing warrant affidavits was central to the Fourth Circuit's decision to apply the capable-of-repetition-yet-evading-review exception. *Id.* 

Unlike in *Baltimore Sun*, public records requests and responses under the NPRA do not evade review because of the nature of their timing. LVRJ's Opening Brief simply glosses over this point stating: "As with sealing orders (*id.*), the time period applicable to requests is also short in duration. Thus, the mootness exception applies." (Opening Brief at 28.) LVRJ fails to explain what time period applicable to public records requests is short in duration, and how this short time period results in public records issues evading review. Nor does LVRJ explain how public records disputes evade review when the legislature has created a statutory right and procedure to resolve such disputes. *See* NRS 239.011. In sum,

LVRJ has not satisfied the "evading review" element of the exception.

Finally, while the NPRA is itself of great importance, the issue LVRJ raises is not of such great importance that this Court should exercise its discretion to decide a moot issue. LVRJ argues that "[i]f this Court does not address the legality of the Code and Policy, Henderson can continue to assess illegal fees, require requesters to file suit, and then provide records at the hearings on the matter to avoid resolution of the important questions at the heart of this appeal." (Opening Brief at 30.) LVRJ's contention is both entirely speculative and unsupported by any evidence in the record.

There is nothing in the record indicating the City has, is currently, or plans in the future to assess illegal fees to force requesters to file suit, and then reverse course in front of the District Court to avoid resolution of the propriety of its fees. If anything, the record shows the opposite. As explained above, the City attempted, as it had in the past, to work with LVRJ to avoid litigation altogether. Moreover, the City's history of responding to public records requests does not support LVRJ's speculative allegations. By way of illustration, in 2016, the City Clerk's Office received and fulfilled over 2,300 public records requests. (II JA294.) The Clerk's Office fulfilled a significant majority of these requests free of charge. (*Id.*) The Clerk's Office only assessed the fee for extraordinary use of personnel *one time* during all of 2016. (*Id.*) Significantly, the instant suit is the only public records action against the City since at least 2010. (II JA295.) Other

than its own complaints concerning this particular Request, LVRJ has pointed to nothing in the record showing that the manner in which the City fulfills public records requests is a matter of great public importance for purposes of justiciability.

As a result, this Court should decline to entertain LVRJ's request for declaratory or injunctive relief.

# 2. LVRJ's Amended Petition Exceeds the Scope of NRS 239.011 and Seeks Remedies Beyond the Exclusive Remedies in the NPRA.

Even if the Court were to find that the capable-of-repetition-yet-evading-review exception applies, the Court should nonetheless affirm the District Court's denial of LVRJ's declaratory and injunctive relief claims because these remedies are unavailable in an action brought under NRS 239.011.

It is well established that "[w]here a statute gives a new right and prescribes a particular remedy, such remedy must be strictly pursued, and is exclusive of any other." *State v. Yellow Jacket Silver Min. Co.*, 14 Nev. 220, 225 (1879). "If a statute expressly provides a remedy, courts should be cautious in reading other remedies into the statute." *Builders Ass'n of N. Nevada v. Reno*, 105 Nev. 368, 370, 776 P.2d 1234, 1235 (1989).

NRS 239.011, the provision governing public records actions, provides that if a public records request is denied, the remedy is to "apply to the district court in the county in which the book or record is located for an order: (a) Permitting the

requester to inspect or copy the book or record; or (b) Requiring the person who has legal custody or control of the public book or record to provide a copy to the requester, as applicable." NRS 239.011. In addition, NRS 239.011 mandates that public records proceedings "take priority over other civil matters" and authorizes the recovery of reasonable attorney's fees and costs to a prevailing party. *Id.* Thus, under NRS 239.011, the exclusive remedy is to apply for an order permitting the inspection of requested records or compelling the production of copies of requested records. That is it. If a requestor prevails in obtaining such an order, then it may move for reasonable attorney's fees and costs.

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